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THE TOLEDO CLUB

235 FOURTEENTH STREET
TOLEDO, OHIO 43624
(419) 243-2201

January 1, 1989

Members of The Toledo Club:

For 100 years The Toledo Club has been the equal of the
finest city clubs in the United States. It is this tradition of
excellence that has maintained The Toledo Club for so long and

provides the foundation for the future.

In this, the Centennial Year of The Toledo Club, it
most appropriate to memorialize the Club®"s TfTirst 100 years
this book and dedicate its publication to the second century
the life of one of Toledo"s finest iInstitutions.

Sincerely,

President

TIW/tg
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HISTORY

by
Carl G. Staelin (1911 -1977)

Thefollowing history was written by Carl G. Staelin and published in The
Toledo Club Magazine in 1984. An attorney and avid historian, he was past
president of The Toledo Club (1956 -1958) and served as chairman of the
Art Committee until his death.

he Toledo Club, rich in tradition and heritage,
stands as one of the most outstanding city clubs
in the nation ... perhaps even the world.

Itselegant old-world spaciousness provides quietaccommo-
dations forbusiness and social gatherings aswell asahaven from the
stormy turmoil of life itself.

The seeds giving birth to the Club were laid almost a
hundred years ago when Toledo was struggling with several other
towns for the distinction ofbecoming the leading commercial center
of the Maumee Valley.

Following the Civil War, Toledo's businessmen gathered
occasionally in the primitive accommodations of the taverns to
discuss trade conditions and enjoy social relations. Inthe canal days
of the 1870's an intimate circle took rooms in Alf Gleason's old
residence on Superior Street in the rear of the Blade newspaper
office, now the site of Dyer's Chop House, and engaged a chef to
prepare meals, which were served by a boy named Riley via a
dumbwaiter lift.

Among this pioneering group was David Ross Locke,
Toledo Blade publisher, famed nationally as Petroleum V. Nasby.
The Nasby Letters on the Civil War, slavery, temperance, and other
current topics were widely read and were especially noted by
President Lincoln. In 1879 Mr. Locke proposed the formation of a
regular club for the group. The name "Draconian” was selected,
derived from the severe Draconian laws in seventh century B.C.
Athens. Mr. Locke was elected the first president. Three years later,
May 15,1882, The Draconian Club was incorporated and headquar-
ters were obtained on Summit Street near Madison Avenue.
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In 1889 the thriving membership changed the name to The
Toledo Club and erected a fine brownstone and brick building on
the southeast corner of Madison Avenue and Huron Street. From
an architectural standpoint this structure was regarded as one of the
most beautiful in the city. The massive blocks of stone in its outer
walls expressed solidity and elegance. The three story building had
a large banquet room and several private dining rooms. The
basement housed a billiard room and the top floor had sixteen
sleeping or guest rooms.

Among those frequently entertained at The Toledo Club was
William McKinley, Congressman through many of those years,
until his election as Governor of Ohio and finally President of the
United States in 1897. He was an honorary member of The Toledo
Club.

Another member whose memory is cherished as part of the
old Draconian Club was Morrison R. Waite, seventh Chief Justice of
the United States Supreme Court. This jurist gained his fame while
a resident of Toledo and became an able expounder of the
Constitution. Other Presidents who have passed over its threshold
are Theodore Roosevelt, Taft, Harding, Hoover, and Franklin
Roosevelt.

Membership in the Club was then limited to 350 and aftera
quarter of a century of service, the edifice was outgrown and the
need for a more adequate building was apparent. At first it was
thought to enlarge the building but after much debate the members
courageously decided to purchase a site on the southwest corner of
Madison Avenue and 14th Street and construct a new building. To
finance the building the Club issued $250,000 in first mortgage
bonds and $200,000 in second mortgage bonds, of which Mr.John N.
Willys agreed to take a large share. The old building was sold for
about $200,000. During the transition period the Club was housed
in the Old Tavern Hotel on St. Clair Street, and in 1915 the Club had
rooms in the Hotel Secor.

On Saturday, June 19, 1915, the imposing new $500,000
Clubhouse was formally opened. The handsome five story edifice
was immediately acclaimed as one the most notable works of archi-
tecture in the city. Designed by architect Lawrence Bellman in the
style of the English Renaissance, the walls were of Harvard brick and
the stonework Indiana limestone. The main entrance opened
directly into a large lobby on the first floor, flanked on the left by a
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magnificent billiard room and on the right by the great living room.
So impressive was this room that a national magazine ran a full color
picture of it over the caption, "Where men of influence congregate.”

At the far end of the living room is an imposing fireplace of
Missourilimestonein old Englishstyle. Onthebreastof the chimney
is inscribed the coat of arms of the Club, containing the Latin motto,
"Servemus Fidem" - Let Us Keep Faith. Surrounding the coat ofarms
is a quotation from the Latin poet Ovid. Freely translated it means,
"Leisure refreshes mind and body; unremitting toil destroys both."

A Men's Grill Room directly opposite the entrance was fur-
nished in English Oak and Caen stone. As a new concession to the
ladies, a side entrance was provided, leading to a Ladies' Reception
Room and small private elevator to conduct them to the second floor
Ladies' Lounge and third floor Ladies' Dining Room. The elegant
Main Dining Room originally for men only was on the third floor,
and sleeping and guest rooms filled the fourth and fifth floors.

The grand scale and splendid appointments of the new
clubhouse were due in large measure to the foresight, driving force,
and generosity of John N. Willys, president of the Club from 1912
to 1929.

The original clubhouse had no athletic facilities. In the
absence of an athletic club in Toledo, an enterprising group of
citizens with the support of some Toledo Club members and outside
interests, stimulated a movement to organize a new athletic club. In
the face of this challenge, and led by eager younger members, a
special meeting of the membership was held in 1924 to consider the
addition of an athletic department. Architect Bellman outlined a
planforanathletic wing ata price of $172,000 which the membership
authorized the Board of Trustees to accept. The project was financed
by some cash in hand and the issuance of $150,000 third mortgage
bonds, subscribed for by a group of members.

The new athletic wing, completed in 1926, provided a range
of recreational facilities, including a gymnasium with basketball
court on the top floor, and a standard length swimming pool which
later attracted championship calibre events, such as exhibitions by
world champions Johnny Weissmuller and Eleanor Holm. The pool
has enabled children of members to perfect swimming skills and
participate in spirited and often successful competition with other
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teams in aquatic events. In 1956 The Toledo Club Swin Team won
the Ohio State AAU age group championship. On the ground floor
was a four-lane bowling alley and five squash courts used by a lively
inner group of over 100 young members. The first Club squash
champion, Martin L. Newhall, in 1926 and 1927 also succeeded in
winning the National Squash Championship. Ever since, squash
champions of the Club have most often been city championsand The
Toledo Club teams have a respectable record in their annual inter-
city club tournaments. Increasingly over the years The Toledo Club
was becoming a family club.

The spirit of high living and high stake card games of the
Roaring 20's affected Toledo Club life. Several poker tables in the
card room had their daily devotees at lunchtime. One can still find
a secret panel in what is now the Madison Room where beverages
were secreted during the Prohibition Era.

To focus attention on business affairs and promote commu-
nications among its executives, the Auto-Lite Company regularly
reserved for lunch one of the privatedining rooms which was known
for many years as the Auto-Lite Room.

The sizeable debt that financed the construction of the Club
and its athletic expansion seemed manageable at the time in the light
ofagrowing membership and lively activity at the Club. But, it was
not long before the market crash of 1929, and resignations poured in.
Through the 30's periodic membership drives were required to
bolster dwindling rolls. In March 1939 the University Club, with a
membership of 200, was consolidated with The Toledo Club, al-
though only a few members actually transferred at that time. The
University Club, formed in 1924 by a group of young men lately out
of college, had occupied the old W.W. Knight red brick mansion at
2215 Collingwood Avenue, but the pressures of the depression
gradually forced it to close in debt, and the building was taken over
by the Red Cross.

With stringent retrenchment measures and salary cuts The
Toledo Club limped along to the early World War 1l years of the
forties. Payments on the three mortgage bonds totalling $468,000
were now in default, placing the Club in jeopardy of losing its
clubhouse through foreclosure. Studies were made by the holders
of the bonds for converting to other uses, such as apartments or
office space.
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In March of 1941, one of the first mortgage bondholders
brought suit on his bond. Asa result of the reorganization that
followed, a small group of 21 loyal Club memberslpurchased the
$200,000 second mortgage bonds for $21,000 and the $125,000 third
mortgage bonds for $1,875. New first mortgage bonds were issued
in the amount of $85,800 equal to 60% of the face value of the old first
mortgage bonds then outstanding. The payment of the new bonds
was secured by the real estate and personal property of the Club.

To carry out the reorganization it was necessary to begin
foreclosure proceedings, by which the Commerce Guardian Bank, as
Trustee, bought the real estate of the Club and took a deficiency
judgment for $168,000. This judgment was later purchased by the
Club for $25,845.95. The Club also purchased the second and third
mortgage bonds from the group of Club members who had pur-
chased them from the original holders.

Through the reorganization, the Club again became the
owner of its real estate and personal property, free from debt except
the new first mortgage bonds. The Toledo Club was saved.

Through the World War Il years the Club struggled along,
poor but proud, and by frugal management finally paid off the new
mortgage bonds with rejoicing and relief in 1947.

As the war years receded into history and industrial activity
quickened, Toledo Club membership ranks swelled beyond 1,450.
However, this presented serious crowding problems, and on func-
tion nights cars had to be parked for several blocks in all directions.

Parking space became crucial. Directly behind the Club was
the Trianon Ballroom, a large dance hall which had, for thirty-five
years, attracted the top bands of the country and throngs of enthu-
siastic dancers. The popularity of this spot for entertaining one's date
through the era of the roaring twenties had gradually faded. As the
Trianon fell out of style, The Toledo Club was given an opportunity
to purchase the premises, which it did in 1954. The building was
razed to yield 160 parking spots.

By now the Club also needed additional dining facilities. To
provide a ballroom, the little used gymnasium and basketball court
was converted in 1957 into the grand new Great Lakes Room.

*This group of leading citizens consisted of Messrs. B.T. Batsch, C.B. Belknap, JE
Bentley, Harold Boeschcnstcin, C.E. Bunting, W.A. Eversman, A.V. Foster, Dean
Higgins, W.W. Knight, JW. Koehrman, J.P. Levis, EJ. Marshall, J.E. Martin, G.M.
Mather, G.L. McKesson, C.O. Miniger, J.T. Rohr, Daniel Searles, R.A. Stranahan,
Ernest Tiedtke, G.P. MacNichol, Jr., and L.T. Williams.
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Handsome crystal chandeliers and sconces, and mammoth
Fiberglas draperies especially designed with a Great Lakes
historical motif, decorated the new room. The hallway leading to
the fourth floor elevator was opened and Kkitchen facilities and other
amenities were provided in the former bedrooms. Airconditioning,
progressively added to all the major rooms, made Club use
pleasant through the summer months. As finances strengthened,
refurnishing and rejuvenation programs were developed
throughout the Club. Abandoned coal bins and other basement
areas were converted into much needed office space.

In 1963 the adjacent Red Cab properties on Jefferson Avenue
were purchased to extend the parking area. Thus The Toledo Club
became one of the only city clubs in the country owning the entire
block on which it stood. This added land enabled a long sought
objective to be realized, a motor entrance directly from the parking
lot. The addition provided a porté cochereand lobby with an entrance
hall through a part of the Men's Grill, converting the remainder to
a Gift Shop. Anew Men's Grill was then created in the old card room
on the second floor, panelled in solid walnut.

As part of the program for additional private dining facili-
ties, anumber of sleeping quarters on the fourth floor were tom out
to make way for the elegant Corinthian Room, in Greek motif, and
the warmly colorful River Room. To provide a second elevator
adjacent to the main lobby elevator, a new shaft was hollowed out
of the building in 1969, chopped through closets and hallways. All
of these additions adhered to the policy of decorations and furnish-
ings consistent with traditional decor and exquisite good taste.

During its long history the Club has been the scene of great
publicdinners and many jolly parties. By far the greatest attendance
at any Club function occurred in early September 1958 when the
enterprising entertainment committee engaged the famous Guy
Lombardo and his 14-piece Royal Canadian Orchestra. So popular
was his sweet music that astaggering 813 reservations poured in. To
accommodate the crowd double seating had to be arranged, first for
dinner and later for dancing.

Every available dining area was brought into play fordinner,
including hall space. For dancing, a huge circus tent was erected
over the parking lot in back of the Club. Access was provided by
removing the two windows flanking the living room fireplace, and
building ramp to the outdoor dance floor. A torrential downpour
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flooded the dance floor during the afternoon, requiring a frantic
clean-up using every available mop from friendly hotels, but by
evening abeautiful harvest moon emerged and stars glistened in the
sky. The gay and romantic participants enjoyed one of their most
delightful and memorable occasions.

The Toledo Club has traditionally served the cultural tastes
of its members. A well-stocked library was assembled with pains-
taking care and housed in the Living Room.

Throughout the building the walls are hung with notable
paintings, either owned by the Club or loaned by members. Many
local artists are represented. Two of these are by an early member,
Edmund Osthaus, famous painter of hunting dogs. The dining
room features portraits of our members who were outstanding com-
munity and national leaders.

In keeping with Toledo's renown as the Glass Capital of the
World, a showcase in the Red Room displays an interesting and
changing collection of Libbey and other glass objects, some on loan
from members.

From early days, lectures on topics of current interest from
noted speakers have been regularly programmed on the Club
Calendar. For music lovers, under the stimulus of Mrs. Arthur
Langenderfer, the Annual Fireside Musicales were inaugurated in
1958, featuring noted pianists or other musicians, performing
Sunday afternoons in the gracious surroundings of the Living
Room.

Originally The Toledo Club was exclusively for men, but in
the last half century the interests of ladies have been recognized and
continually accommodated. In 1920 the Main Dining Room was
opened to the ladies. The Ladies' Lounge on the second floor was
modernized and refurbished in 1953. The conversion of the gymna-
sium to the Great Lakes Room, redecorated in 1971 as the Versailles
Room, made provision for ladies' special concerns for wedding
receptions, dinners, dances, and card parties. The magnificent
Men's Billiard Room on the first floor gave way in 1937 to the cocktail
lounge called "The Red Room," featuring the painting of "The Red
Girl," a remarkable production by Walter Dean Golbeck. The
designation of the "Ladies' Dining Room" finally disappeared in
1969 when it was redone and named the West Point Room. Not only
are special hours allotted to ladies for exclusive use of the pool, but
also of the Health Department for service of our masseurs.
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All of the post World War Il modernization and expansions
involved investments exceeding many times the original cost of the
building. Asaresult of these imaginative programs, visitors from all
over the world rank The Toledo Club as one of the finest city clubs
found anywhere, a ranking in which our travelled members
appreciatively concur.

Thefollowing isan update by Donal Hummer, whowas thepresident of The
Toledo Club (1968 - 1971).

In 1961 the bowling alleys in the sub-basement of the athletic
wing were removed to make space for the new locker room.

In 1968 an extensive remodeling of the Club was undertaken,
involving updating of the entire electrical service and air condition-
ing of the private dining rooms. As a part of this project the motor
entrance from the parking lot was constructed through the area that
had formerly been the Men's Grill. A new Men's Grill, in traditional
walnut panelling was constructed on the second floor in an area that
had formerly been the card room. The original 1915 elevator
serviced approximately 325 members, and in 1968 the Board ap-
proved the construction of two new elevators to improve service.
The former Ladies' Dining Room on the third floor was converted
into the West Point Room, and the Corinthian Room and the River
Rooms were constructed on the fourth floor.

In 1972 the Athletic Department received acomplete renova-
tion with theaddition of a lounge, and a new steam room, sauna
and whirlpool.

In 1983 the swimming pool, which is on the first, second,
and third floors, and just over the squash courts, received a major
renovation with the addition of a new aluminum lining.

In 1989 the Club isundergoing extensive remodeling in the
form of new infrastructure items such as a new drainage system,
new roof, and new boilers and air conditioning equipment. The
Living Room is newly renovated to maintain the original decor of
1915.
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The following is an update by Thomas 1. Webb, Jr., the president of The
Toledo Club from 1987 through 1990.

The Board of Trustees ofthe Club decided in 1988 to conduct,
with the aid of architects and engineers, an extensive inspection of
the Club building and to develop a plan for addressing all mechani-
cal, structural and interior design problems that might exist at that
time or in the foreseeable future. Upon completion of the inspection
it was clear that a significant amount of work needed to be done in
various areas of the Club. The Board responded by adopting a
capital improvement program to be financed and implemented over
a period of five to seven years.

Inorder to address immediate problems, an assessment was
levied upon members and renovation work was immediately be-
gun. During 1988 and 1989 the following projects were completed:

* Replacement of a large section of the roof.

* Renovation of the boilers.

» Replacement of most components to the
air handling and cooling systems.

* Repair of the storm sewer.

* Replacement of a large amount of plumbing.

» Structural repairs to the building’s foundation.

* Redecorating and interior design projects in the
Centennial Room, Red Room, Grill Room, second
floor corridor, West Point Room, Chelsea Room,
Shamrock Room, Georgian Room, third floor
corridor, Corinthian Room, Board Room, Ivy
Room, and fourth floor corridor.

Upon completion of these projects, the immediate needs of
the Club had been addressed. At the same time, all other structural,
mechanical and interior design needs were identified and incorpo-
rated into a five year capital improvements program which will
serve the Club well into its second century.

The 100th Anniversary of The Toledo Club was celebrated at
the Club on September 8,1989 with a black tie dinner party attended
by 616 members and guests.

In 1991, after extensive renovation and the addition of large

windows, the former Versailles Room was reopened as The Belve-
dere Room.
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THE MEN'S CLUBS OF OHIO - THE CLUBS OF
TOLEDO

by
Lucas J. Beecher and Charles Quinn

The following is an exerpt from an article written by Lucas J. Beecher and
Charles Quinn, published in The Ohio Magazine in 1907-08, as part ofa
series ofart les devoted to the Men's Clubs of Ohio.

f the progress and development ofa city are to be

measured by the number and excellence of its clubs,

then Toledo isina fairway to become a great metropolis,
for the city is as well provided with these social institutions as any
municipality of its size in the country.

Club life in the metropolis of northwestern Ohio is of course
an evolution, the same as it has been elsewhere. In the early days of
the city, when Toledo was struggling with several other towns for
the distinction of becoming the leading commercial centre of the
Maumee valley, the pioneer life of the time did not admit of the
luxury of today. The primitive social accommodations of the fifties
and sixties, while adapted to the needs of the sturdy builders of the
present day commerical structure, were as far removed from the
splendid clubs that now administer to the wants of the people as is
the present intricate civilization from the simple life of those who
blazed a trail through the trackless forests of the Black Swamp.

Five decades ago there were in Toledo no clubs, as we now
understand the word. The merchants of that time did not lead the
strenuous life. There was more time for fraternal and social inter-
course in their daily associations, hence the community resembled
that of the small interior towns of today. But as the population of the
city grew the "chop house™ where the businessmen occasionally
assembled to talk over trade conditions disappeared, to be sup-
planted by amore modem institution where a chefcould be engaged
by the subscribing members.

To go into the history of club life in Toledo would take one
back to that most democratic of all institutions, the tavern of the
pioneer. Here was germinated the seed that was to blossom forth in
the splendid Toledo club of today, which has a membership of 340
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of the most prominent business men of the city; the Country Club,
the playground of Toledo's aristocracy; the Inverness Club, which
has one of the finest golf courses in the State; the Toledo Yacht Club,
thatisbuilding amagnificent new home; the Lincoln Club, one of the
most influential political organizations in the State; the Business
Men's Club, and others.

Club life in Toledo, it might be said, dates from about 1875,
when the future of the city wasassured. Local commerce had by this
time reached such proportions as to warrant the establishment of
institutions of a social nature. The railroad builders had with that
prescience characteristic of them foreseen the trend ofcoming events
and stretched their tentacles of steel to the heart of the city. Big
industries had established themselves within the confines of the
municipality and the complexity of modern life becoming manifest,
the business men inevitably outgrew their "Beefsteak Clubs."

While Toledo in its pioneer days never could boast a Mer-
maid Tavern or Temple Bar rendezvous, yet these famous primitive
clubs of old London had their counterpart in the Maumee metropo-
lis. Following the civil war and until 1875 there were a number of
saloonsand taverns where the Bohemian spirits of the time mingled.
They usually occupied a large room either in the rear or above the
liquid dispensaries, and here meals wereserved. Itistrue there were
no Shakespeares, Ben Jonsons, Beaumonts and Fletchers, and no
Sir Walter Raleighs to make the gatherings memorable by the
brilliance of their repartee, the bright glitter of their genius or the
infinite flow of their wit, but nevertheless there were Petroleum V.
Nasby, and others almost as well known. These congenial souls who
made Northwestern Ohio famous in the great internecine struggle
between the North and the South, spent many evenings together in
this environment, which was the best the city could then afford.
While the elegance and comfort of the present day clubs were absent
there was always a "feast of reason and flow of soul”that would do
honor now to any of our modem social organizations.

THE TOLEDO CLUB

Thefirstclub in Toledo that might be dignified with the name
was the old Draconian Club, that was organized in 1879. This
institution, which had its rooms on Superior street in the rear of The
Blade newspaper office, was the outgrowth of asmall club that met
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over a saloon on Summit Street. Following the post-bellum
movement of the time when social clubs were forming throughout

the country, the Draconian Club came into existence with what was
then regarded as extravagant quarters. The members thought they
had reached the apex of luxuriance in the furnishing and decoration
of their home, though in comparison with the clubs of today the
rooms would appear as barren as the meeting place of a colony of
New England Quakers.

The Draconian Club was in existence ten years, when in 1889
the Toledo Club was formed. As most of the members went into the
new organization the old club died a natural death. One year after
the Toledo Club was launched its fine brownstone building on the
southeastern comer of Madison avenue and Erie [sic.] street was
erected. This structure is today one of the most beautiful in the city
from an architectural standpoint. The massive blocks of stone from
which the outer walls are constructed are suggestive of solidity and
elegance. Having been erected before the age of steel, everything
about the building is indicative of the pre-modem spirit which is the
very antithesis of the bustle and hurry of today. One look at the
structure and the passing pedestrian knows that behind those walls
are rest, comfortand quiet. Itisahaven forthe worried and harassed
business man, a harbor of refuge from the commercial storms that
rage without.

When the building was erected it was thought that it would
meet the needs of Toledo for several generations, but it is now
practically outgrown and plans have been prepared by a local
architect for its enlargement. In the beginning the usual scheme was
adopted of making every member a stockholder in the club. Each
member was compelled to buy one share of stock, the par value of
which was $100. While this proved efficacious in raising money for
the purchase of the lot and the erection of the building, it had its
defects. Many of the stock shares in time became involved in estates
of deceased members and it was impossible to transfer these shares
to others who wished to join the club. Then, too, some members left
the city and discontinued the payment of dues but refused to
surrender their stock certificates. All this resulted in a change in the
form of the club’s organization by the passage of a resolution at the
annual meeting recently, abolishing the stock plan and substituting
an initiation fee of $100, this money to be surrendered when the
member leaves the club. The dues are $80 a year.
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The club has decided to completely remodel the interior of
the building and refurnish the rooms. Thiswork will be undertaken
this Autumn without regard to the enlargement of the structure,
which project may also be realized soon. With respect to the latter
undertaking it may be said that the club has in the rear of its lot an
unimproved piece of land 20 x 60 feet and if the addition is built the
quarters of the organization will be greatly enlarged.

As the membership of the club is limited to 350, the roster of
the organization will be completed when ten more names are added,
after which a waiting list will be established. The club has 100 non-
resident members who are scattered throughout the country. Some
of the most prominent captains of industry in the United States are
included in this list, among them being Eugene Zimmerman, the
railroad magnate of Cincinnati and the father of the Duchess of
Manchester. Mr. Zimmerman comes to Toledo frequently on busi-
ness and always makes his headquarters at the club.

Of the older members who are now deceased may be
mentioned W.E. Hale of Chicago, one of the greatest electric
railroad organizers of his time. Mr. Hale, in company with Norman
B. Ream, now of New York, was interested in the Toledo Traction
Company, which absorbed the old Robinson lines in the Maumee
city and then sold out to the Everett-Moore syndicate.

Another prominent member was W.E. Pierce, Sr., who will
be remembered by his connection with the Clover Leafroad, having
for several years been receiver of the property.

There isalso on the "In Memoriam™ list the name of Frank H.
Hurd, the silver tongued orator of the Maumee. This mental giant,
whose voice resounded through the halls of congress when he
represented the Ninth congressional district in the lower House, was
one of the best known figures that ever sat in the Federal lawmaking
body. He was a free trader of the Cobden school and like the great
English economist he remained steadfast to its principles until the
last. It has been said that were it not for the influence of Frank H.
Hurd, the protective tariff principle would have become a fact in the
political economy of the United States ten years before it did.

Among the departed ones of the club there is also found a
name that is revered throughout the length and breadth of the
country. This is none other than the great McKinley, the martyred
president who fell by the assassin's bullet at Buffalo in 1901. While
this apostle of protection was but a State figure in politics and long
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before his influence reached beyond the borders of Ohio, he was fre-
quently entertained at the club, and when the nation placed him in
the executive chair at Washington he was made an honorary
member.

Two members, whose memory is cherished because of their
connection with the old Draconian Club were Petroleum V. Nasby
(David Ross Locke) and M.R. Waite, seventh chief justice of the
United States. Both of these great men gained their fame while
residents of Toledo, the one as a humorist and satirist, the other as
ajurist. None played a more prominent partin molding the opinion
of the nation on the question ofslavery and inupholding the admini-
stration of Lincoln than did Nasby, and there has been no more able
expounder of the constitution on the supreme court bench since the
days of Marshall than M.R. Waite.

It will thus be seen that the comparison between Toledo's
clubs and the old chop house at Mermaid Tavern is not after all so
farfetched. If the city by the Maumee cannot boast of poets and great
essayists, it had its political and commercial leaders, its satirists and
its jurists and that they enriched the life of the club and made it more
than a mere eating and drinking place, those who are now members
can testify.

The Toledo Club, aside from being a social centre, is of great
commercial benefit to the city. Here are entertained all the visiting
bankers and financiers who come to the city in search of opportuni-
ties for investment. As all the local leaders of finance are members
of the organization, the visitors naturally gravitate toward this
haven where, in a private room, they may lay before the Toledo
capitalists their plans. It may safely be assumed that nine-tenths of
the big projects that find realization and thatare helping toso rapidly
build up the city are discussed and planned at the Toledo Club. Here
itis easy to find the "right people,” those who possess the capital that
will insure the success of the enterprise.

Then again the club acts as a sort of host for the whole city.
When Toledo wished to do honor to Theodore P. Shonts after his
appointment by President Roosevelt as chairman of the Panama
Canal Commission, he was banqueted at the club. If any man of
national prominence makes a visit to Toledo, the club represents the
city in the entertainment.

The club building is a three-story and basement structure
with splendid accommodations. There is one large room where

26



banquets are held and several small dining rooms for the conven-
ience of private parties. In the basement is the billiard room and on
the top floor are sixteen sleeping or guest rooms.

The lot on which the club’s building is erected is one of the
most valuable in Toledo. It has a frontage on Madison avenue of 60
feet and is 120 feet deep on Huron street, giving the structure an
abundance of light on two sides. Being located in the very heart of
the business district the property has enhanced with the rapid
appreciation of town values until the lot is worth over $3,000 per
linear foot. Recently an offer of $200,000 was made for the sixty feet,
but the members, believing that nothing is too good for the club,
refused to sell. When the property was purchased in 1889 the price
paid was $400 per foot.

The officers of the Toledo Club are: President, J.W. Marshall;
Vice-President, W.P. Tyler; Secretary, Dan D. Schenck; Treasurer,
George L. Freeman; Directors, the foregoing together with Henry
Vortriede, W.S. Walbridge and William Hardee; House Committee,
Henry Vortriede, chairman; W.S. Walbridge and William Hardee.
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INCORPORATORS OF THE DRACONIAN CLUB - 1882
David R. Locke (1833- 1888)

David Ross Locke, who wrote the Nasby Letters under the
name Petroleum Vesuvius Nasby, was the proposer of the
formation of and the first president of The Draconian Club.
President Abraham Lincoln read and chuckled over the humor
and philosophy of the Nasby Letters and it is said that President
Lincoln was reading them at home just before he left for Ford
Theatre the night he was assassinated. He was the editor and
publisher of the Toledo Blade. His residence was at 1305 Jefferson
Avenue.

Frank I. Young (1847-1888)

Frank I. Young was born in Maumee, Ohio. His mother's
maiden name was Angeline L. Upton, stepdaughter of Dr. Hora-
tio Conant of Maumee. His sister was married to Frank B.
Swayne. He was in the grain business with the firm of Young
and Backus from 1870 until 1879 when he and his brother formed
the grain business of Young Brothers, which continued until his
death at age forty one years. Upon his death the hall of the
Produce Exchange at Toledo was draped and closed early, and a
proclamation was read. His residence was at 83 Locust.

William L. Hoyt

William L. Hoyt was bom in 1836 in Norwalk, Ohio and
moved to Toledo in 1865 after serving as a captain in the Twenty-
fifth Ohio Infantry. He was the only person who was an incorpo-
rator of both The Draconian Club in 1882 and The Toledo Club in
1889. He was secretary of the Draconian Club. His biographical
record discusses his indefatigable efforts to the success of both
social institutions and states that the Draconian Club means "writ-
ten in gore” and comes from the name of the famous Greek law-
maker, Draco, who wrote his general edicts in blood, and for a
time the letters and all printed matter of the Club were written or
printed in red. He lived at 19 Thirteenth Street.
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Charles A. King (1817-1893)

Charles Augustus King was bom in Sockets Harbor, New
York, and came to Toledo in 1841. In 1846 he entered the grain
business with an elevator at Water Street near Madison and Jeffer-
son Avenues. He organized the first board of trade in Toledo,
and was president of the Produce Exchange. He was also presi-
dent of the Mutual Insurance Company of Toledo. He was a
Whig and when that party no longer existed he became a Repub-
lican, and was elected mayor of Toledo in 1867 and served two
years. He was a state senator and an unsuccessful candidate for
Congress. He was active in the organization of the Toledo Public
Library and was president of the Library Board at his death. His
daughter married Robinson Locke, the son of David Ross Locke.
His residence was at 1906 Monroe Street.

George E. Pomeroy. Ir. (1848-1928)

George Eltweed Pomeroy, Jr. was bom in Clinton, Le-
nawee County, Michigan. He was the lineal descendent in the
eighth generation of Sir Ralph De Pomeroy, chief of staff to Wil-
liam the Conqueror who received immense estates in Devonshire,
England which his family held through many generations. His
father and mother were both lineal descendents of the earliest
members of the Plymouth Rock Colony. He spent his youth on
his father's 360 acre farm in Michigan and in 1865 moved to
Toledo with his parents. He was active in banking and real estate
and had business acquaintances and associates in all the large
cities of the world. His home at 806 Huron Street had a rare and
peculiar charm as it was a treasure house of old and interesting
books and paintings handed down for generations.

Tohn M. Fiske

John M. Fiske was a member of the Toledo Produce
Exchange, associated with W.T. Walker and Company

A.W. Gleason - notary
AW. (Alf) Gleason had the old residence at 216 North
Superior Street where the founding members first gathered in

the rear of the Toledo Blade's newspaper office, now the site of
Dyer's Chop House.
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CHAPTER I

FOUNDERS
OF
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CORPORATION NOT FOR PROFIT

Tizese flrfeicles of Ipcopporafciop

OK*

The

DeitnedOctf), That we, the undersigned, silll .of whom are citizens of the State
of Ohio, desiring toform a corporation, notfor profit, under the general corporation laws of said State, do
hereby certify: , >>

FIRST The name ofsaid corporationshallbe  SI1£/ ~ /fTjL /<o

SECOND. Said corporation shall be located, and its principal business transacted at

. County, Ohio.
THIRD. The purposefor which said corporation isformed is
NTyflr OT £, S/
N 1~ IANVL,j/ICT <Tjl 25/,
n, ,-/ elr - t Zv-c/l.- jliud  [r*al iZ*/z/t .jicar-rvt/ZrO,,
coT /Za . e/t-- Czljt-i-
&e CreN 7> orre/ -sZi.
ALTYyZ 1, >CR.Zoxsv-
O' Cayi*tA6 plJAzsr-Zy
J<bPere¥ y ZansJIM M-4-M-<yCs-"A | */GO) Nooen-cl, Zf
Zcijc* | O-*cly [r » Oc* a
/fit, Ac-uU SYvi+rre CZ~"X (3/ix~ ry-rrr*i 0-4 o/**~c'
azi A /<<S<reft..Cnj [Ao-r-i-A*
3n Witness lI?l)crfof. We have hereunto set our hands, this Cszr".-e"'/y <t -day

of SeTZs*-*?4 . <ef/ AD. 188i_



The State of Ohio. County of SS.

Onthis _ _ dayoff W'&t A.D. 188__, personallyappeared
before me, the undersigned, a. . . waitthim aavobjforf sse bl conantgy,
the above named. 1<? IXItteJL* -i* ICH

i£ tL
.and. who each severally acknowledged

the signing of the foregoing articles of incorporation to be his free act and deed, for the uses and purposes
therein mentioned.
Witness my hand and official seal on the day and year last aforesaid.

The State of Ohio. County of

I, & 1 1, Clerkof Cour n Pleas within
andfor the county aforesaid, do hereby certify that.
whose name is subscriloed to theforegoing ackimomliedgment &s a .
was at the date thereofo in andfor said county, duly com-
missioned and qualified, and authorized as such to take said acknowledgment; and further, that I am well
acquainted with his handwriting, and believe that the signature to said acknowledgment is genuine.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand %nd affixed the seal of said Court,

at (igy o))

(Clerks will please use this Certificate and not use their own)



INCORPORATORS OF THE TOLEDO CLUB - 1889
Tohn B. Ketcham, 2d (1832 -1897)

John B. Ketcham, 2d was bom August 27,1832 at Cornwall,
Orange County, New York, the son of Valentine Hicks Ketcham. His
brother, Valentine Ketcham, built the Valentine Theatre and was the
owner of the famous race horse, "Croescus.” In 1852 he came to
Toledo and entered the wholesale grocery business with Secor,
Berdanand Co. He was in the wholesale grocery business in various
partnerships until 1887. In 1885 he organized a private banking
business, and on January 1, 1888 the Ketcham National Bank was
organized with John B. Ketcham, 2d as president, and commenced
business at the southeast comer of Madison and St. Clair Streets. In
1890 he lived at the Boody House.

William A. Gosline (1839-1910)

William A. Gosline organized the earliest company dealing
in coal in Toledo. In 1872 he entered the Gosline and Barbour
company, a wholesale and retail coal and coke business and a
mining company operating three mines in Ohio. They were large
jobbers of West Virginia, Kentucky and Pittsburg coals as well. In
1901 the company name was changed to W.A. Gosline & Company.
His residence was at 1541 Summit Street.

William T. Carrington

William T. Carrington was a member of the Toledo Produce
Exchange, and a member of one of the most successful and large
grain and commission house and shipping businesses on the Great
Lakes, the firm of Carrington and Casey. In 1854 his family moved
from Middlebury, Indiana to Toledo. His father, Miles D. Carring-
ton, was a founder of the Toledo Board of Trade and the Toledo
Produce Exchange. His residence was at 807 Superior.

38



Walter N. Conant (?-1890)

Walter N. Conant was vice-president of The Toledo Club
from 1889 through 1890. He was in the furniture business at 204
Summit Street with B. Meilink & Co. In 1885 he was an incorporator
of the Conant Bros. Furniture Co., whose offices, factory, and
warehouse were at the junction of Summit, Adams, and Water
Streets. His residence was at the northwest comer of Parkwood and
Woodruff in Toledo.

Dean V.R. Manley

DeanV.R. Manley wasbom in 1853 in Buffalo, New York and
came to Toledo in 1873 and entered the employ of Bostwick, Braun
& Co. He began his career in the banking business with the Second
National Bank. He was president of the National Cement and
Rubber Company and the chiefexecutive of the Home Savings Bank.
He was treasurer of The Toledo Club from 1889 through 1896. In
1889 he lived at 237 Summit Street.

William L Hoyt

William L. Hoyt was bom in 1836 in Norwalk, Ohio and
moved to Toledo in 1865 after serving as a captain in the Civil War.
He was a chief clerk with a railroad company and later he engaged
in the commission and brokerage business, and afterward was in the
insurance business and was secretary of Toledo Coal and Ice Co.
He was the district manager for the North American Accident Insur-
ance Company of Chicago. He was secretary of The Toledo Club
from 1889 through 1896 and was the only person who was an
incorporator of both The Draconian Club and The Toledo Club.
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CHAPTER IV

THE TOLEDO CLUB SITE



he present site of The Toledo Club is fourteenblocks

west of the Maumee River, just outside the central

business district. It occupies more than one city block at
Madison Avenue and Fourteenth Street.

Nearby historic and architecturally significant buildings
include the Hillcrest Hotel, the former Post Office, and the YMCA.

This site was assembled from many parcels of land acquired
over the years, beginning in 1912 when John N. Willys, the
president of the Club, purchased the parcels on which the original
building was constructed.

Due to the unusual political events and the unusual way in
which the tracts of land were assembled, it was difficult to trace the
title to the lots where The Toledo Club is situated. It was similar to
assembling a puzzle, working backward in time from the present to
the 1830's; then working forward in time from 1610 to the 1830%.
But there was a missing piece of the puzzle in the 1830's. The
missing piece proved to be a September 5,1837 agreement between
six "undivided interest" property owners, which was found in a
Ledger Book of Vistula. With that document, the pieces fit.

The very early history of the ownership of The Toledo Club
site requires a discussion of the early history of the city. The first
deed, from the Congress of the United States, was made in 1828-
1831, when the land was considered to be part of the Michigan
Territory.

As stated by Clark Waggoner in his History of the City of
Toledo and Lucas County, Ohio (New York and Toledo: Munsell &
Company, 1888):

Taken all in all, the site on which Toledo stands has gone
through a series of mutations in government and control
which will find few, if any, equals in this country or else-
where. Among these may be named the following:

As early as 1610, the French Government... laid claim to
the territory.

In 1763, as the result of the French and Indian War, Great
Britain dispossessed France and assumed jurisdiction.

In 1783, by the treaty of peace between the colonies and
Great Britain, this territory was conceded to the former,
although in fact, it remained under British control until after
the victory of General (Mad Anthony) Wayne at Fallen
Timbers in 1794.
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In 1787, it was made part of the Northwest Territory.

In 1796, it became part of Wayne County (Michigan) of
said Territory.

In 1800, it passed to the Territory of Ohio.

In 1802, it became by jurisdiction, part of the Territory of
Indiana.

In 1805, the new Territory of Michigan assumed
jurisdiction ... and it was practically in Wayne County.

In 1817, Monroe County, Michigan, was organized and
this locality passed to its control.

In 1820, Wood County, Ohio, was created with nominal
jurisdiction here.

In 1827, Port Lawrence Township, Monroe County, was
organized ...

As early as 1831, parts of the present territory of Toledo
were in the separate plats of Port Lawrence and Vistula ....

In 1833, Port Lawrence and Vistula were consolidated in
the Town of Toledo.

In 1835, the County of Lucas was established by the
Legislature of Ohio, to include Toledo.

(The"Toledo War" took place during the summer of 1835.
The only blood drawn during the war occured when Two
Stickney stabbed Deputy Sheriff Joseph Wood of Monroe
County in the hand with a penknife.)

In 1835, until January, 1837, ... the issue of jurisdiction
remained in dispute.

In 1837, the incorporated Town of Toledo became the City
of Toledo.1

Ini 827 or 1828 an 86 acre parcel was entered as Congress
land at $1.25 per acre by Judge John Hollister at Perrysburg.
Within the next five years it was sold by him three times; the
first two sales at $3.00 per acre successively failed because the
purchasers were unable to pay, so the land was taken back by
Hollister. The third sale was to Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen at $6.00
per acre, after Major B.F. Stickney and his partners an-
nounced the start of Vistula (1831). (The towns of Vistulaand
Port Lawrence were combined in 1833 to form the Town of
Toledo.) InJune, 1832, Dr. Sutphen sold a seventy acre tract

1 - Waggoner 310.
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to Jessup W. Scott at $12.00 per acre. In 1835 Scott sold to

Edward Bissell, for himselfand others, an undivided half of

the seventy acre tract for $6,000.2

In an agreement dated September 5,1837 between Edward
Bissell, Isaac S. Smith, George W. Scott for Jessup W. Scott,
Henry W. Hicks, Wm. Taylor for himself and Hiram Pratt, and
Stephen B. Comstock, the undivided interest of the land for Lots
1400 to 1579 of Vistula was put together and appraised and divided
into tracts. Lots 1557,1558,1559,1569 and 1570 became part of the
Scott Tract. As apart of this agreement they put six tickets into a hat
and drew two tickets out to see which two paid for the cost of the
survey. For the purpose of this agreement they fixed appraised
values as follows: Lot 1570 - $320; Lot 1569 - $320; Lot 1558 - $270;
Lot 1559 - $340; and Lot 1557 - $210. 3

The best residence property on the tract is on Madison,

between Tenth and Seventeenth Streets, and isnow (in 1888)

worth (100 feet deep) say $80 per front foot, or at the rate of

$20,000 per acre, including streets.4

2 - Waggoner 509, quoting a letter written in January, 1879 by Jessup W. Scott.

3 - Ledger Book of Vistula, Manuscript Collection 30, Box 1, Toledo-Lucas County
Public Library, Local History Department 117-119.

4 - Waggoner 509.
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The original Toledo Club building is situated on three lots in
the Vistula Subdivision of Toledo, Lucas County, Ohio, described as
Lot 1559, Lot 1558, and the Northeast fifty (50) feet of Lot 1557. These
three lots have been deeded as one parcel from 1881 to the present
as follows:

Lots 1558.1559 and NE 50 Lot 1557

The Toledo Club July 23,1913
John N. Willys December 12,1912
E.H. Close Realty Co. December 2,1912
Aaron Chesbrough May 23,1912
James Nicholas & Wm. W. Bolles, Trustee January 29, 1902
Jonathon F. Morris, Trustee et al January 28,1896
Frederick Fowler July 25,1893
Ellie B. Rogers June 6,1893
Jno. S. Eck May 13,1890
William Bolles September 15,1881

Prior to the time these lots were combined in 1881 these lots
were owned as follows:

Lot 1559

Ezra Bliss April 18,1861
Morgan L. Collins August 17,1855
Ezra Bliss May 10,1850
Jessup W. Scott October 25,1845
Jno. Fitch October 8,1845
W.C. White & R.S. Barnes September 28,1843
Edward Bissell February 28, 1843
Isaac S. Smith July 21,1835
Edward Bissell June 20,1835
Jessup W. Scott June 1832
Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen 1829-1832
Congress of The United States 1827

Part of Lot 1559 (SW 60")
Jane Wheeler Moore March 28,1864
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Lot 1558

Ezra Bliss

Morgan L Collins

Ezra Bliss

Edward Bissell

Isaac S. Smith

Edward Bissell

Jessup W. Scott

Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen

Congress of The United States

Part of Lot 1557 (NE 507

Ezra Bliss

Jessup W. Scott

Walter Titus, Jr.

Edward Bissell

Isaac S. Smith

Edward Bissell

Jessup W. Scott

Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen

Congress of The United States
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April 18,1861
August 17, 1855
May 10,1850
February 28, 1843
July 21, 1835
June 20, 1835
June 1832
1829-1832

1827

May 10, 1850
December 16, 1847
March 13, 1843
February 28, 1843
July 21, 1835

June 20,1835
June 1832
1829-1832

1827



The remainder of the present site is the large parking area
that has been assembled on part of Lot 1557, Lot 1645, Lot 1569 and
Lot 1570 in Vistula, and Lot 6in Mott's Second Addition. These lots
have been purchased, beginning in 1954, with the most recent
acquisition in 1980, when the former 15th Street was vacated to
become part of The Toledo Club parking lot. These lots have been

owned, as follows:

Part of Lot 1557

The Toledo Club

Frank R. Lockard, Administrator
Mary Lockard

Floyd G. Crandall

NTeilie E. G. McMachen
Benson G. McMachen

Belle M. Briggs

Edward Bissell

Isaac S. Smith

Edward Bissell

Jessup W. Scott

Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen

Congress of The United States

Lot 1645

The Toledo Club

Frank R. Lockard, Administrator
Mary Lockard

Floyd G. Crandall

Nellie E. McMachen

Benson G. McMachen

Belle M. Briggs

Ezra Bliss

Jessup W. Scott

Edward Bissell

Isaac S. Smith

Edward Bissell

Jessup W. Scott

Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen

Congress of The United States
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November 7,1962
March 8,1941
September 20,1920
June 30, 1917
March 4, 1907
November 11,1903
May 3,1893
February 28, 1843
July 21,1835

June 20,1835

June 1832
1829-1832

1827

November 7,1962
March 8,1941
September 20, 1920
June 30,1917
March 4,1907
November 11,1903
May 3,1893

May 10,1850
February 18, 1846
February 28, 1843
July 21,1835

June 20, 1835

June 1832
1829-1832

1827



Part of Lot 1557 and Part of Lot 1645

Frank R. & Sweet M. Lockard
Ohio Savings Bank and Trust Co.
Elizabeth U. Larkin

John J. Moylan

Carl O. Peinert & John J. Moylan
Alfred J. Bode

Julia W. Smith

Floyd Crandall

Benson McMachen

Nellie E. McMachen

Benson G. McMachen

Belle M. Briggs

Walter Titus, Jr.

Edward Bissell

Isaac S. Smith

Edward Bissell

Jessup W. Scott

Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen

Congress of The United States

Part of Lot 1570

The Toledo Club

Frank R. Lockard, Administrator
Mora B. Snyder and Mary Lockard
Clarence B. Snyder

Claire O. Coghlin

Ella A. Coghlin

William Bolles

Ezra Bliss

Edward Bissell

Isaac S. Smith

Edward Bissell

Jessup W. Scott

Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen

Congress of The United States
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September 23,1939
February 19,1937
May 2,1932

April 25,1928
November 28,1927
October 28,1927

2

June 30,1917

May 20,1911
March 4,1907
November 11,1903
May 3,1893

March 13,1843
February 28, 1843
July 21, 1835

June 20,1835

June 1832
1829-1832

1827

November 6,1962
March 8,1941
January 28,1926
2

August 1,1905
January 17,1890
October 26,1881

May 10,1850
February 28, 1843
July 21,1835
June 20, 1835
June 1832
1829-1832

1827



Lot 1569

The Toledo Club
Claire Coghlin
Ella A. Coghlin
William Bolles
Ezra Bliss

Morgan L. Collins
Ezra Bliss

Jessup W. Scott
Walter Titus, Jr.
Edward Bissell
Isaac S. Smith
Edward Bissell
Jessup W. Scott
Dr. J.V.D. Sutphen
Congress of The United States

Vacated 15th Street
The Toledo Club
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July 20,1954
May 4,1905
January 17,1890
October 26,1881
April 18,1861
August 17,1855
May 10,1850
December 16,1847
March 13,1843
February 28,1843
July 21,1835
June 20, 1835
June 1832
1829-1832

1827

August 5,1980
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CHAPTER V

ARCHITECTURE
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ARCHITECTURE

by
Charles H. Stark, Il

Thefollowing description ofthe architecture of the Toledo Club was written
by Charles H. Stark, IlI, an architect who is a member of The Toledo Club.
Hisfirm, Bauer Starkand Lashbrook is asuccessor to the architecturalfirm
ofMills, Rhines, Bellman and Nordoffwhich designed the present building.

he architecture of the Toledo Club has its roots in

Italy where the Renaissance began in the Fifteenth

Century. England was the last European country to fall
under this "new" classical influence by way of France.

The period of the Late Renaissance that influenced the design
of The Toledo Club is known as Georgian (pertaining to the period
of British history of the reigns of the four kings named George who
ruled successively, from the accession of George | in 1714 to the
death of George IV in 1830). Therefore we should refer to the
building's style as late Georgian Revival. The Toledo Club is as fine
an example of this style as one can find in the United States.

Georgian Revival architecture is characterized by its strict
adherence to the details of its predecessors. These details, as well as
the basic forms and massing, were found by well educated architects
in large folios in their offices. It is important that the architect
understood the spirit of the style.

Sir Christopher Wren, the great British architect, was the
principal influence for the particular style of Georgian architecture
that we enjoy. Perhaps his "Swan House" in Chichester is the closest
surviving example to the design of The Toledo Club. The floor plans
of English town houses of this period were symmetrical and com-
pact.

The basements of these buildings were only part way below
ground and contained the servants' quarters. They had brick and
stone walls, symmetrically disposed sash windows and classical
doorways. They had parapets, the portion of the outer walls that
extends over the eaves. The roofs were often hipped in the style of
the French architect, Nicholas Francois Mansart (1598 - 1666), and
called mansard roofs. All of this describes The Toledo Club very
well.
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Architects describe the exterior wall treatment as "astylar"
because it lacks columns. The limestone first story is "rusticated"
stonework because of the deeply recessed joints. The bay windows
at either end of the original building are, in my opinion, the most
beautiful and distinctive details on the exterior.

Itisnotsurprising that the architectural firm of Mills, Rhines,
Bellman and Nordhoff (now Bauer Stark and Lashbrook) was com-
missioned to design the present building because George Mills had
been instrumental in persuading John N. Willys tobring hisautomo-
bile plant to Toledo in 1908. Mr. Willys was, of course, a principal
backer of the new building when it was built in 1914-1915. It is also
not surprising that the Mills finn chose to eclecticise the English
Renaissance style, because he was born and educated in England
before he founded Ohio's oldest continuously operating architec-
tural firm in 1892.

George Mills was a straight laced English gentleman who set
rigid standards for the firm. He is credited with being one of the first
inthis country to bring architects and engineers together in the same
office.

The principal designer for the firm at that time was Lawrence
Bellman. Mr. Bellman may have been the best designer in the Toledo
area in 1913, and his work had much to do with the firm's national
reputation. One of his sketchbooks is still in existence in the Bauer
Stark and Lasbrook archives and indicates a very careful and
accurate interpretation of the classical details that were used on our
Club. Mr. Bellman was aslight, quiet man with enormous talentand
he designed most of the major houses the firm did in the twenties.

The original building and the 1925addition were constructed
by the Henry J. Spieker Company, which was one of the most
prominent construction firms in Northwest Ohio.

It was fortunate that Mr. Bellman was available to design the
addition on the south end of the building in 1925, this time as the
head of the firm. The addition blends so well with the original
building that it is difficult to discern where it begins.

The firm continued to be the Club's architect through a
number of improvements under the name of Bellman, Gillett and
Richards. John N. Richards, a member of the firm, served a term as
president of The Toledo Club in 1953-54.
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I was first involved as the designer of the pedestrian canopy
for the motor entrance for the firm in 1968. | also designed the
Corinthian Room, the new Men's Grill, and the Barber Shop that year.

The interior of The Toledo Club is, in my opinion, even more
important than the exterior. Architect Bellman borrowed freely
from important English buildings. Perhaps the concept of the main
stairway was derived from the staircase at Blickling Hall in Norfolk,
England, or the first floor oak panelling from the drawing room at
Stockton House, Wilts, England. At any rate we are sure that the
interior architecture of the center lobby is an English derivation of
the Roman Doric order. Rooms that flank this hall span several
centuries in their inspiration.

The Living Room or Reading Room, renamed the Centennial
Room, is a derivation of the English Tudor Renaissance Revival
style. This two story room with a barrel vaulted ceiling has cast
plaster mouldings applied in geometric patterns. Colored appliques
are located between the mouldings. The columns are of Italian,
Tuscan derivation with "egg and dart” mouldings at the ceiling. The
oak panelling has a frieze of mouldings of a wood pattern called
triglyphs about two thirds up the wall from the floor. The panelling
is surmounted by a crown moulding with decorative motifs of
French influence. The entrance to the hall has a classic Greek
pediment with wooden festoons in the architrave.

The Red Room is in the Italian Renaissance Revival style, a
two story well proportioned room centered on a semi-circular bay
window. The most distinctive feature is the hand stenciled simu-
lated beamed ceiling. The oak panelling clads about two thirds of the
walls and is terminated with a crown moulding supported by
wooden brackets.

Such an artistic olio of style was totally acceptable in the
Renaissance Revival used by American architects. The differences
in these rooms are subtle and have to do with the mouldings and
decorative motifs used. Each room was probably copied from aplate
in the architectural firm's archives.

The third floor center hall is an English derivation of the
Italian Renaissance. It is an interesting space with a softly curved
glass vaulted ceiling reminiscent of an Italian galleria. The painted
columns are Greek, lonic in style. The room has a painted wood
wainscot and an entablature consisting of subtle images of modil-
lions, urns and festoons. The grand stair opening into this space is,
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inmy opinion, the most "comfortable™ in Toledo. The proportions of
the treads and risers are almost perfect and, along with the large
landing space, contribute to the ease with which one traverses them.

The Main Dining Room, on the third floor is late English
Renaissance Revival style. Again the architects used a change of
detail to provide variety in the Club's ambiance. The wooden fluted
columns have gilded acanthus leaf capitals from the "golden age" of
Greek architecture. The panelling is of stained oak and the tall
windows have fan light heads. The plaster ceiling mouldings are
interesting and varied, consisting of "egg and dart" patterns,
dentils, reeding and modillions bracketed by plaster garlands and
still more reeding. The fireplace is unusual because of fragile wood
mouldings of festoons and other flowery details. One might have
expected a largerand more heavily detailed motif for the scale of the
room. Most of the decorative elements of this type are from a book
of French designs from the Eighteenth Century still in my
possession.

The finn of Bauer Stark and Lashbrook and its predecessors
was was called back on more than one hundred occasions to make
modifications, including the addition of the second elevator in 1967,
modifications to the athletic wing in 1961 which included removal
of the bowling alleys from what is now the squash locker room,
and changes in the sleeping rooms in 1966. Our firm was also
responsible for the addition of the running track and renovation of
the swimming pool in 1983.
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The following isalist from the records of Bauer Stark and Lashbrook
of the visible projects at The Toledo Club's various locations.

Vestibule 1903
Alterations/additional story 1906
Squash Court (Doyle Lewis building) 1908
New Club (Madison and Huron) 1910
Temporary Quarters (Tavern Hotel) 1911
New Club (Madison and 14th) 1913
Athletic Building Addition 1925
Addition and alterations to Card Room 1927
Bar 1934
New Bar in Billiard Room (now Red Room) 1935
Massage Table 1945
New Elevator 1946
Alterations to Bar and First Floor Grill 1946
New Locker Room, Athletic Department 1948
Storage Room over Kitchen 1951
Analysis of Air Conditioning Bids 1951
Ladies' Powder Room Alterations 1952
Skylight Alterations 1952
Ladies' Locker Room Alterations 1954
Barroom Alterations 1955
Gymnasium Alterations 1956
Fourth Floor Alterations 1958
Wall removals: Second and Fifth Floors 1959
Barber Shop and First Floor Restroom 1960
Remove Bowling Alleys 1961
Squash Lockers and Lounge 1961
Lighting for Natatorium 1962
Remodel Great Lakes Room 1962
Fourth Floor Alterations 1964
Fifth Floor Alterations 1965
New Elevator Shaft 1967
New Entrance 1968
Parking Lot 1980
Running Track 1982
Nautilus Room 1986
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CHAPTER VI

THE PORTRAIT GALLERY
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DAVID ROSS LOCKE
(1833-1888)

avid Ross Locke was born in 1833 at Vestal, New
York. Atten years of age he left home and was an
apprentice to the publisher of the Courtland Democrat
newspaper for seven years.

He attended school only a few years and in the printing shop
he found his great university. He had an acquaintance of books and
literature such as few men of his time possessed. Those who were
not familiar with the struggles of his early life imagined him to be
university trained. After his apprenticeship he became a real
journeyman in the actual sense of that term and passed several years
as a journeyman printer, wandering about the country working in
many offices as a printer or reporter.

In 1852 he went to Plymouth, Ohio and co-founded a news-
paper, the Plymouth Advertiser. In 1856 he started The Journal in
Bucyrus, Ohio, where he began winning the reputation which
placed him among the chief literary men of the Civil War epoch. He
wrote a series of stories, one for each week, for six years. Some of
these stories had weird and pathetic features, others were tragic and
startling, but all were illustrative of certain social phases. The scenes
were laid in Bucyrus and the surrounding countryside. They gave
realistic descriptions of scenery and names, and though the inci-
dents related were illogical and improbable, there was just enough
truth at the bottom of each story to excite interest, criticism and
feeling. The stories had such strength, due to theirrealism, and were
so full of adventure and incidents that they were republished in
some of the leading newspapers of the day, carried across the ocean
into English newspapers, and occasionally were translated into
French and German. He was identified with several other Ohio
newspapers, including those in Mansfield and Bellefontaine.

During the first year of the Civil War he was editor and
proprietor of a weekly newspaper, The Jeffersonian, published at
Findlay, Ohio. One night, in a drugstore in Findlay, he met a man
who caused him to create a fictional character, "Rev. Petroleum
Vesuvius Nasby,"and that week a letter purporting to come from an
ignorant and penniless Kentucky democrat who was devoted to free
whisky and the perpetuation of slavery, and who desired to be
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postmaster, was published as the first Nasby Letter. Thus com-
menced the most remarkable series of satires upon public men and
measures that were ever written. It was the development of this
character, "Petroleum V. Nasby," which brought about the Nasby
Letters.

In October of 1865 he moved to Toledo and took editorial
charge of The Blade,which was a daily paper. His greatest ambition
was to build up a family newspaper with a national circulation. He
soon became the sole proprietor of The Blade.

The popularity of his Nasby Letters created a demand for
him on the lecture platform and he lectured in all the principal cities
of the North, and though not a master of oratory, as he often
declared, he never failed to draw a crowded house and to evoke
prolonged applause. As"Petroleum V. Nasby" he was known to the
world at large and was "a mighty factor in molding opinion and
creating history during the Civil War." Abraham Lincoln in the
White House read and chuckled over the humorand appreciated the
philosophy of the Nasby Letters.

In the spring of 1881 he went to Europe and traveled there
almost two years while recording his impressions of European
countries, which he sent back in a series of letters to The Blade
published as "Nasby in Exile.” In The Blade, on January 9, 1882,
during the year The Draconian Club was incorporated, "Nasby In
Exile” wrote: "Geneva, Switzerland and Thereabouts ... Geneva is a
pleasant place to come to, and but for the exhorbitant hotels, would
be a place that one could be loth to leave. Swiss hotel keepers have
got swindling down to so fine a point that further progress in that
direction is impossible."”

He returned to Toledo and died at his home in the 1200 block
of Jefferson Avenue on February 15, 1888. He was the man who
proposed the formation of and was the first president of The
Draconian Club, which later became The Toledo Club.
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EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY
(1854-1925)

dward Drummond Libbey was born at Chelsea,

Massachusetts on April 17, 1854. At the age of

twenty he had an interest in his father's glass
business, the New England Glass Company, and on the death of his
father in 1883 he became the sole proprietor.

Itwas the discovery of natural gas in Northwestern Ohio that
caused him to mov